United States Department of the Interior Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service

# National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form

See instructions in *How to Complete National Register Forms*Type all entries—complete applicable sections

For HODG		3 4	
For HCRS use			
receivedJUL	19 1914		
date entered	SEP 1	1	1070

Туре	all entries	—complete applic	cable se	ctions			-			
1.	Nam	е								
histo	ric	Tarpon	Inn							
and/o	r common									
2.	Loca	ition								
street	t & number	200 E.	Cotter	St.				not	for publica	ition
city, t	own	Port Ar	ansas	vici	inity of	congressio	nal district	14		
state		Texas	code	048	county	Nueces			code 35	5
3.	Clas	sification	n							
_X t	gory district ouilding(s) structure site object	Ownership public private both Public Acquisitio in process being consider		x occupie unoccu work in Accessible yes: res x yes: uni no	pied progress stricted		culture mercial cational rtainment ernment strial		museum park private res religious scientific transporta other:	
4.	Own	er of Pro	per	ty						
name		James H. At	wi11,	Gordon E.	Wise	The second secon				
street	& number	P.O. Box 8		ä			-			
city, t	own	Port Aransa	S	vici	nity of		state	Texas	78373	
5.	Loca	tion of L	ega	l Desc	riptio	on				
	house, regis	stry of deeds, etc.	Nu	eces Count	y Courth	ouse				
city, t	own .		Co	rpus Chris	ti, Texa	s	state			
6.	Repr	esentati	on i	n Exis	ting	Surve	/S			
title H	istoric :	Sites Inventor	у	h	nas this pro	perty been de	etermined el	egible?	yes	_X_ no
date	July, 19	76					al X sta			
depos	sitory for su	rvey records Texa	as His	torical Co	mmission					
city, t	own Aus	stin, Texas					state			

## 7. Description

Condition		Check one	Check one	
excellent good fair	deteriorated ruins unexposed	unaltered altered	_x_ original site moved date _	

#### Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Tarpon Inn is a simple two-story frame structure accented by a double veranda. Vertical and horizontal elements are pleasantly proportioned, square columns balancing a long unbroken roofline. Originally all white, now only the 6/6 windows and door frames are trimmed in white; the majority of the building is painted blue.

In 1886, Frank Stephenson purchased material from a Civil War barracks building which housed the work crew for the Mansfield jetty. The lumber was used to construct the original Tarpon Inn. That building was destroyed by fire in 1900. Two new buildings were erected in its place only to be ravaged by the 1919 hurricane and a resultant fifteen foot tidal wave. The larger building was completely lost to the storm, but the smaller one was reparable and continued to be used as a hotel until 1926. One year earlier, the Tarpon Inn now standing was built at the present location on Cotter Street. The smaller building was placed behind the new larger structure, becoming the diningroom. The diningroom was a two-story structure crowned with a cupola until 1958, when a fire reduced its dimensions to one story. A gabled roof now covers the building.

Retention of the "barracks" style, when the Tarpon was rebuilt, marks a response to the climactic conditions of Port Aransas. The design was functional and rugged. A northeast orientation captures the constant Gulf breeze, cooling the twenty-six rooms opening onto the northeastern gallery. A hip roof of shingle composition overhangs the galleries, providing shade. The building has been "hurricane proofed" by sinking a telephone pole in the core of each square pillar. The poles are anchored to the roof and sunk into twenty feet of concrete. The corners of each room have pilings sunk into sixteen feet of concrete. Wooden clapboard walls are of double and triple thickness.

Two chimneys have been removed. In 1956, the structure underwent modernization with the installation of private baths and air conditioning. At that time, the front veranda was also remodeled. It was again repaired in 1975.

Tarpon Inn continues to serve as a popular hotel. The owners are investigating restoration possibilities.

## 8. Significance

	Areas of Significance—C archeology-prehistoric archeology-historic agriculture x architecture art x commerce communications	community plann	ing landscape architectur law literature military music	science sculpture x social/ humanitarian theater
Specific dates	1886/1900/1919/1925	Builder/Architect I	Frank Stephenson, James	M. Ellis

#### Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The Tarpon Inn at Port Aransas has been a landmark, in various forms, for close to a century, hosting vacationers from all over the world, including many distinguished public figures. Its architectural style is typical of many structures built along the Texas Gulf Coast, and reflects skillful adaptation to the harsh climate. Having proved its worth, the "barracks" style is basically unchanged. Sound construction makes the Tarpon Inn one of the few large structures of this type to remain on the coast.

During the late 1800's, Port Aransas gained popularity as a sportsmen's paradise, thus encouraging the need for lodging. Tarpon Inn was constructed when Frank Stephenson obtained surplus lumber from a Civil War barracks, thus helping to establish the style. At this time, the only way to reach the Inn was by a sixteen mile boat ride. Stephenson owned the Inn until 1897, while he was assistant keeper of the Aransas lighthouse. It was then sold to a Mr. Hatfield, who had married the inn manager, Mrs. Mary Cotter. Until 1912, the settlement was known as Tarpon, taking its name from the Inn.

Following a 1900 fire, two new structures were built in 1904. Disaster hit again in 1919, when a hurricane severely damaged the larger structure. The rear building remained, although in poor repair. It served as the hotel until 1926. The property lessee, James M. Ellis, bought the Inn land in 1923 and reconstructed it in 1925 with the help of J. B. Earl of Waco. No architect was hired, but Ellis recalled the earlier barracks structure and rebuilt his Inn as closely as possible to the one on site in 1904.

Port Aransas became "the tarpon capital of the world." Its popularity peaked between 1920 and 1940. President Franklin D. Roosevelt came to Port Aransas to fish, his presidential yacht, the U.S.S. Potomac anchored at Harbor Island. Although Roosevelt was probably not an actual guest at the Inn, a scale from one of his catches is framed and displayed on an Inn wall. It is among 7,500 tarpon scales signed, dated, and mounted in the lobby. Sportsmen from all the United States and 21 foreign countries are represented.

Other notable guests at the Tarpon Inn included evangelist Aimee Semple McPherson, Secretary of Commerce Jesse Jones, aviator Douglas (Wrong Way) Corrigan, and animal trainer Clyde Beatty, who shared his room with his pet lion. Duncan Hines recommended the Inn's restaurant and borrowed several recipes.

After World War II, tarpon practically deserted this section of the coast. With fishing's decline, the Inn eventually fell into disrepair and changed hands several times. It continued to serve, however, as occasional headquarters for the Salvation Army, the Red Cross, and military units. In 1975, major repairs were undertaken. Tarpon Inn again functions as a popular hotel and restaurant.

Tarpon Inn is a suitable complement to the nearby Aransas Pass Light Station, listed on the National Register. Together these structures form the major component of the area's unadorned but locally significant architectural landscape and reflect the importance the Gulf Coast has taken in all the town's activities.

## 9. Major Bibliographical References

Harwood, Miller, W.A. Scrivner, <u>Fabulous Port Aransas</u>
Kuehne, Cyril M., <u>Hurricane Juntion</u>; a history of Port Aransas, 1973.
Skipper, C.W., "The 'in' inn", <u>Houston Post</u>, Aug. 29, 1971.
Interview with James Atwill June 28, 1979.

	James Atwill J		9.		
	graphica ated property Port Aransas	less than	one		1:24000 Quadrangle scale
UMT References					
Zone Easting		B <sub>1</sub> 0 5 <sub>1</sub> 2 <sub>1</sub> 0	B	one Easting	g Northing
نا ليا	ا البيا	البالا	D	نا الت	
بيلا ليا			F	تلا لـــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	
GLJ LL	ليا ليا	التلا	н	بلا لت	
ll of lots 8, ubdivision, su ap on file at	rvey 4 as show THC).Includes	y 20 feet on by map v. hotel and r	1, p. 7 of	Nueces Couilding a	of block 3 of J. Cotter ounty records. (Survey and immediate environs.
state State	nd counties for pr	code	county	or county b	code
state		code	county		code
organization street & number	Barker Texas	History Ce	nter	telephone	une 28, 1979 512-471-5961
city or town	Austin			en discon	Texas
	a Histori	c Pros	orvatio	state Offi	cer Certification
The evaluated sign  As the designated	ificance of this prop national State Historic Prese	perty within the s	state is:  X local for the National	Historic Pres	ervation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89–
	nate this property for iteria and procedure ervation Officer sign		he National Reg he Heritage Cor	gister and cert nservation of	fy that it has been evaluated Recreation be vice.
tle State His	storic Preserva	ation Office	er	4	July 11, 1979
For HCRS use on	ly fy that this property	is included in t	he National Re	gister	
Durd 91)11		2012			1. 11 11 30
The state of the s	uain H. K	navan			date 9 / 4. /7
Keeper of the Nat	tional Register	navan			date 9 / 4. 77
Keeper of the Nat		navary			date 9/13/19

United States Department of the Interior - Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service

Re-submit \_\_\_\_

National Register Write-up

Federal Register Entry

Send-back \_\_\_\_\_

Entered SEP | 4 1979



Tarpon Inn 200 E. Cotter Street Port Aransas, Nueces County, Texas

Photo by Gildersleeve, Waco. Courtesy of Tarpon Inn.

Date unknown

Photo #144 JUL 19 1979

SEP 1 4 1979



TEXAS HISTORICAL COMMISSION

Tarpon Inn 200 E. Cotter St. Port Aransas, Nueces County, Texas

Photo by Mike Yancey, Texas Historical Commission, 1976

Northwest oblique

JUL 1 9 1979

Photo #2/4/

SEP 1 4 1979



TEXAS HISTORICAL COMMISSION

Tarpon Inn 200 E. Cotter St. Port Aransas, Nueces County, Texas

Photo by Mike Yancey, Texas Historical Commission, 1976

Northeast oblique

Photo #3/4/

DDE JUL 19 1979 1 4 1979

SEP



Tarpon Inn 200 E. Cotter Street Port Aransas, Nueces County, Texas

Photo by Mike Yancey, Texas Historical Commission, 1976

Southeast oblique

Photo #44/4

JUL 1 9 1979

SEP 1 4 1979





Tarpon Jon 7/3/79.0. BOX 8.78373 PORTARANSAS, TEXAS

August 15, 1979

Dr. William J. Murtagh
Keeper of the National Register
Heritage, Conservation & Recreation Service
Department of the Interior
Pension Building
440 G Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20243

(IX)

Re: H32-NR

Dear Dr. Murtagh:

We are pleased to respond to your letter of July 24, 1979, concerning our nomination for listing in the <u>National Register of Historic Places</u>. Probably the single most important factor for including the <u>Tarpon Inn</u> in the <u>National Register</u> is that it has remained a touchstone for generations of visitors to this area. Grandparents, parents and children of the same family all have memories of their fishing or hunting stories of years past at the Tarpon Inn. Being the oldest building on the tip of Mustang Island, Tarpon Inn has been the center of activity since its inception in 1886. The following is a brief description of Port Aransas and the history of the Tarpon Inn as prepared by Mr. and Mrs. William R. Ellis in the 1960's as a part of their promotional material.

"The fame of Port Aransas as a fishing resort dates back to the early 19th Century, when sportsmen became aware that the best tarpon fishing extant was to be found here. Over a period of time the town had various names -- Star, Tarpon, and The Pass -- until Port Aransas became its accepted name.

"In 1886, material from Civil War barracks was used to construct the first TARPON INN, which was opened and operated by Mrs. Mary Hatfield and her son, Ed Cotter. That building was destroyed by fire in 1900. Two new buildings were then erected. In 1919, a hurricane destroyed the larger building and damaged the smaller, which was repaired and continued in use as a hotel.

"In 1925, Mr. and Mrs. J.M. Ellis purchased the old building and land. With financial assistance from sportsmen guests, headed by the late J.B. Earle of Waco, the pres-

Dr. William J. Murtagh August 15, 1979 Page 2

ent main building was erected and the former hotel converted into a dining room. Early in 1956 rooms in the main building were completely modernized. All rooms have private baths and comfortable beds. Enjoying an international reputation, Tarpon Inn has been famous for its meals since 1886.

"Famous sportsmen, doctors, politicians, and notables from all professions are yearly visitors at TARPON INN, for here they can discard their coats and ties, and enjoy a real vacation without formality, planned programs or curiosity seekers harassing them on their well earned vacations.

"A fascinating and unusual feature of TARPON INN is found in the lobby, where the walls are literally covered with scales from tarpon caught by guests -- each scale bearing the autograph of the lucky angler who caught the tarpon. There are some 7,500 scales, carrying names from every state in the nation, as well as twenty-one foreign countries. Among the names you'll find those of Franklin D. Roosevelt; C.F. Urschel, San Antonio, Texas; Dr. R.L. Sutton, Kansas City, Mo.; N.F. Ozburn, Memphis, Tenn.; Aimee Semple McPherson, Los Angeles, Cal.; Durward Kirby, New York City; Hon. Tom Connally, Marlin, Texas; E.F. Ball (Ball Mason jars), Muncie, Ind.; H.L. Parker, Bremen, Germany; C.B. Thompson, Shanghai, China; L.B. Orrell, Le Havre, France; P.A. Gibbon, Palemgang, Sumatra; Ted Donaldson, London, England; and Pauline Falkiner, Warren, N.S.W., Australia, as well as various college presidents; governors, financiers and just plain fishermen. The only requirement for putting up a scale is that you must catch the fish yourself.

Port Aransas became a haven for sport fishermen who came from all over the state of Texas as well as every state of the union. Being the only place on the island to house visitors in those times, it naturally developed quite a reputation. The Tarpon Inn had the island's second telephone, with the first being acquired by the Coast Guard to Aransas Pass. With the advent of indoor plumbing the Tarpon Inn installed their own water system and used a windmill in the dunes a half-mile east of the Inn and ran a pipeline to its cedar cistern. All the fishing guides had flags of their own shape and color which were kept in the Tarpon Inn in the flag box. When a customer arrived and asked for particular guide, his flag would be hoisted atop the Inn, signaling that business awaited him at the Tarpon. Sometimes as many as three or four flags were flying at once.

Dr. William J. Murtagh August 15, 1979 Page 3

Not only was fishing for tarpon a main attraction, but duck hunting filled out the winter months of sports activity in the nearby bays and ponds on the back of Mustang Island and Saint Joseph Island. Mr. Bill Ellis, owner of the Inn up until 1970, recalls how the earlier duck hunters would arise at 4:30 in the morning, proceed down the wide porches to the shower at the end of the building, take a cold shower (as there was no hot water then), return to dress and then down to the restaurant for a substantial breakfast and finally to get aboard a small skiff to partake in the day's hunt.

The structure itself is an amazing creation of native engineering. Pilings were driven 16 feet into the ground and extended all the way up into the attic of the two-story building. Even today, looking down the top of the pilings in the attic, which are pointed almost as fine as toothpicks, one can see that the alignment is indeed amazing. Contractors today have difficulty in algining pilings at the ground, much less two stories above. It was quite a feat to establish this type of construction in 1925. The wood in the attic reveals yellow heart pine which still looks as fresh as the day it was put into place. In the 1930's the east end of the Inn was added to include four new rooms. On the west end, a wing was added which included the lobby and a small apartment on the first floor, and an owner's apartment on the second floor.

Although the Inn is operating on a fulltime basis, it is imperative that immediate work be started to combat the harsh effects of wind, water, humidity and everpresent termites. We believe the above information shows that the Tarpon Inn has been associated with lives of persons significant in our past, that it employed a method of construction which has proven successful and probably should be implemented in all Gulf coast construction, and has been an integral part of the development and recreation of the Port Aransas area.

We will answer any further inquiries you might have in connection with this nomination.

Sincerely yours,

James H. Atwill

Gordon E. Wise

Furnat 15, 1930

Not only sas fitting for tarpon a main attraction, but older bunting filled outside winder months of gaeris activity in the matring filled outside member and back of Hustang island and the matrix tases it land. In aft. Elits, owner of the longer activity in antil tast, recalls how the earlier fock hurters would arise and it is the merrine, preceded down the wide corches to the shower at the end of the building, take a cold shower (as there was no but water cast), return to dress and then down to the restructure for a succeptibility breakfast out finally to act the restructure for a succeptibility to be the restructure for a succeptibility of the restructure.

The seructure tiself to an ensating creatice of resive enginecenter, Pilines were invente state of the two-stary buildcenter all the way up into the state of the two-stary building. Even today, locating down the eds of the piling in the
agric, which are soluted almost de fine as todassicks, one
can see that the alferent is indeed acidies. Coastactors
can see that the alferent is algining pilines at the grounds.
coday mays afficately in algining pilines at the grounds.
construction in 1936. The wood in the attic
lish objective of construction in 1936. The wood in the attic
first objective fear the vict still tooks at fresh as the
reveals yelles heart pine which still tooks at fresh as the
day it was rut into piece. In the 1936, on the wast end.
cas len was added to include four may rouss. On the wast end.
a wing was added to include four may rouss. On the wast end.
muta no the first flour, and on manager a purchasin on the

Although the less is operating on a full time casis, it is inperstive that lengthate work be atgread to contact the name;
therefive that lengthate work be atgread to contact the name;
theorem of which weith invasorient agains that the Trypou into the serve information admits that the testing in the past,
and desociate with lives of nerveus consistions in our past,
the implication a destree of successing white his fromcurrently our probabity should be implemented in all fluid
contractions are received between an integral confidence decontractions and received between the states of the de-

The will seemer and forester

	Plantan C Mics
THE T	AUG 2 1 1979 LACES
DATE	REC'D
	19 92 11 SPONSE (ATTACHED)
	THE REST OF TESTAL SENT
	TITLE CALL (ATTACHED)
DATE	ACTION TALEN
INITIA	LS CH 8-23

# TELEPHONE REPORT

Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation

PROJECT: Tarpon Von

TODFROM: Lissa Anderson DATE: 9/13/79

ADDRESS: TX /SHPO styl PHONE: 512-475-3094

STAFF MEMBER: Both DIVISION:

REPORT:

The building was "hurricane - proofed" as upart of the original comstruction in 1935.

The "major repairs" of 1975 include repair of worn boards, repairs to the porch and roteps, yslembing and electrical work, crepair to the interior walls, ysainting, and remodeling of the interior of the front entry.

#### ENTRIES IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER

STATE TEXAS

Date Entered

SEP | 4 | 1979

Name

Location

Tarpon Inn

Port Aransas Nueces County

#### Also Notified

Honorable Lloyd M. Bentsen

Honorable John G. Tower Honorable Joseph P. Wyatt

State Historic Preservation Officer Mr. Truett Latimer
Executive Director
Texas State Historical Commission
P.O. Box 12276, Capitol Station
Austin, Texas 78711

NR Byers/bjr 9/21/79